
  

 

     CITY OF BELLEVUE 
CITY COUNCIL 

 
Summary Minutes of Study Session 

 
 
 
 
 
September 8, 2015 Council Conference Room 
6:00 p.m. Bellevue, Washington 
     
 
PRESENT: Mayor Balducci, Deputy Mayor Wallace, and Councilmembers Chelminiak, Lee, 

Robertson, Robinson, and Stokes 
 
ABSENT: None. 
 
1. Executive Session 
 
At 6:01 p.m., Deputy Mayor Wallace called the meeting to order and announced recess to 
Executive Session for approximately 15 minutes to discuss one item of potential litigation. 
 
The meeting resumed at 6:19 p.m., with Mayor Balducci presiding.  
 
    2. Study Session 
 
 (a) Update on the Police Department, Crime Statistics, and Neighborhood Safety 
 
City Manager Brad Miyake opened staff’s update on Police Department activities and 
neighborhood safety, noting that Chief Mylett has been on the job for 100 days.  
 
Police Chief Steve Mylett provided a briefing on the Police Department including an overview of 
his assessment of the organization. He has conducted individual interviews with every member 
of the Police Department, Councilmembers, and Department Directors. In addition, he has 
participated in the direct observation of Police Department personnel, reviewed community 
surveys and the Police Executive Research Forum report, and met with community residents, 
businesses, and regional law enforcement leaders.  
 
Chief Mylett said the Police Department has developed strong relationships with other City 
departments and regional law enforcement agencies. While interviewing Police personnel, he 
asked everyone what they thought the City does well. The answer he heard repeatedly was 
customer service.   
 
Chief Mylett reported that violent crime rates have been fairly consistent since 2010. The total 
number of property crimes per year increased from 2012 to 2014, which is typical of other 



September 8, 2015 Study Session   . 
Page 2 

  

regional and nationwide communities. This is thought to be related, at least in part, to increasing 
drug addiction rates, including heroin use. He said the Police Department will be launching an 
enhanced public education campaign focusing on crime prevention. 
 
Chief Mylett said total violent crime (i.e., homicide, rape, robbery, aggravated assault) has 
decreased 20 percent from the first half of 2014 to the first half of 2015. Total property crime 
(i.e., burglary, larceny, vehicle theft, arson) has decreased during the same time period as well. 
Bellevue’s residential burglary rate has not changed over the past year. Motor vehicle prowls 
have decreased fairly significantly, however.  
 
Chief Mylett compared Bellevue’s crime statistics to U.S. benchmark cities and other Eastside 
cities.  
 
Chief Mylett said that neighborhood safety is a top priority for the Police Department. Officers 
have been working to enhance community partnerships through Coffee with a Cop, Paws on 
Patrol, postings on Nextdoor.com, Block Watch, and attendance at community events, often as 
speakers. 
 
Chief Mylett described an increase in residential crimes in the Enatai area earlier in the year. An 
enforcement emphasis resulted in a number of arrests and strengthened the relationship between 
residents and the Police Department.  
 
Chief Mylett said other issues discussed during community-wide meetings were the increasing 
number of homeless individuals, surveillance cameras in the rights-of-way, and the impact of 
growth on crime. He commented on specific priorities for the future. The Police Department is 
beginning to work on a Comprehensive Strategic Plan. Objectives include increasing staff 
diversity and ensuring that the Department is adequately staffed.  
 
Chief Mylett described the false alarm program established to reduce the number of false alarms 
and to increase the time available for officers to engage in proactive policing. The City issued a 
request for proposal (RFP) for a program vendor and received a number of responses. The Public 
Safety Corporation was selected and the CryWolf program was implemented in July 2015. To 
date, 2,828 residents and businesses have registered their alarms. Chief Mylett said the program 
will be evaluated annually to determine whether it is having the desired outcome of reducing 
false alarms. 
 
Mayor Balducci thanked Chief Mylett for the update. 
 
Councilmember Robinson thanked Chief Mylett for the presentation. She said she sees questions 
from residents to the Police Department on Nextdoor.com and asked whether anyone responds to 
them. Amanda Jensen, Crime Prevention Detective, said the Police Department does not see 
conversations between residents. Rather, staff comments only if the City initiates a topic. She 
noted that residents are welcome to contact her and the Police Department directly as well. 
 



September 8, 2015 Study Session   . 
Page 3 

  

Mike McCormick Huentelman, Neighborhood Outreach Manager, confirmed that his office sees 
comments only if posted by City staff as well. He said more than 11,500 Bellevue residents are 
now using Nextdoor.com, which represents 21 percent of the City’s households. 
 
Councilmember Robinson said a neighbor mentioned an instance of a drone flying over their 
yard and taking photographs. She questioned whether residents have a right to destroy a drone 
that is violating their privacy in this manner.  
 
Chief Mylett said the FAA regulates drones, which cannot weigh more than 55 pounds, be used 
for commercial purposes, impede aircraft, or fly within five miles of an airport. He said the 
Police Department would not respond but would forward a complaint to the FAA.  
 
However, if a drone is used to commit a crime, for example, looking into someone’s window to 
videotape or take pictures, Chief Mylett said the Police Department can seize the drone and 
pursue an arrest. The situation of a drone flying above a property does not cross the line of 
criminality. However, if a drone flies at a lower level and is reckless or putting individuals in 
danger, the Police may enforce the law. He said the Police arrested an individual a couple of 
years ago for flying a drone at a low enough level to distract drivers and cause them to swerve.  
 
Ms. Robinson said a resident questioned whether, if a drone that is taking pictures lands in their 
yard, they are allowed to destroy it. Chief Mylett recommended that citizens instead call the 
Police Department. 
 
Councilmember Robinson said there is a local startup company called Neposmart which sells an 
affordable personal surveillance system that does not require an alarm monitoring service. It will 
trigger a mobile app when a camera detects activity. The Seahawks recently implemented the 
system to monitor its stadium. 
 
Chief Mylett said the Police Department recommends cameras on private property in residential 
areas as a great tool for crime prevention. 
 
Councilmember Lee commended Chief Mylett for talking with every Police Department 
employee, Department Director, and Councilmember and thanked him for his work to date. He 
questioned the reason for the decrease in property crimes over the past year. Chief Mylett said 
the Department has not isolated a specific cause but he will report back to the Council on that 
issue. He noted that Detective Jensen and Crossroads Substation Officer Craig Hanaumi do an 
exceptional job of sharing information with residents and partnering with Neighborhood 
Outreach staff. He said most of the incidents are crimes of opportunities, for example, leaving 
items in view in vehicles, both locked or unlocked.  
 
Councilmember Robertson said she is pleased to see the decrease in crime rates. She requested 
information on the solve rates and conviction rates for crimes and suggested providing that 
information online as well. She said she would be curious to hear in the future whether marijuana 
land uses are having an impact on crime. 
 



September 8, 2015 Study Session   . 
Page 4 

  

Councilmember Robertson said she looks forward to the Chief’s staffing review. Detectives were 
added in the last budget cycle and she is interested in whether more will be needed. She would 
like to restore the downtown bike patrols and is interested in the Chief’s perspective on that 
topic. 
 
Ms. Robertson said she is hearing complaints from residents about registering their home alarms, 
and some have said they are cancelling their alarm monitoring service as a result. Chief Mylett 
said the Cities of Auburn and Issaquah use outside vendors for their false alarm programs, while 
other cities manage their own programs. Most of them charge registration fees. He noted that 
Bellevue has been charging fines for false alarms for some time. 
 
Ms. Robertson requested a comparison of what other cities are charging and how they are 
administering their programs. She is interested in any information that might be available that 
tracks whether residents discontinue their alarm service to avoid registering and paying the fee.  
 
Chief Mylett said the Police Department has invited CryWolf (Public Safety Corporation) to 
hold two educational sessions. Detective Jensen said an evening session is scheduled for 
September 23 at City Hall. A daytime session on September 24 might be scheduled as well if it 
would be useful to the community. Councilmember Robertson suggested pushing this 
information out through Nextdoor.com and other media. 
 
Councilmember Stokes talked about the importance of strong relationships between the Police 
Department and the community. He noted the motto on the City’s Police cars with the words 
“respect, integrity, accountability and service.” Mr. Stokes observed that the Police Chief and 
personnel sincerely believe in these values and strive to follow them. Chief Mylett said he 
reminds his staff that every interaction with the public is an opportunity to enhance public trust 
in the Police Department. 
 
Councilmember Chelminiak thanked the Chief for his work to date. Mr. Chelminiak said he is 
impressed that Police Department employees frequently cited customer service as an important 
priority for the City. He would like to see the bike patrol restored in the downtown and expanded 
elsewhere (e.g., Crossroads Park). Mr. Chelminiak said his wife has worked in three high schools 
and she is very supportive of the SRO (School Resource Officer) program. 
 
Mayor Balducci said she appreciated Chief Mylett’s deliberate approach to talk to Police 
employees and others, and to assess the department and its operations, before rushing to 
implement changes or new initiatives. Ms. Balducci said it will be helpful for the Council, during 
the next budget process, to have more in-depth information on the mapping of criminal activity 
and issues related to resource needs. Chief Mylett said he will be working on implementing 
CompStat. Mayor Balducci said she has heard positive comments about the Chief from his staff, 
Mayors, and other Police Chiefs.  
 
Mayor Balducci noted that some communities have a criminal justice council comprised of 
police, prosecutors, public defenders, judges, jails, probation programs, etc. As liaison to the 
Probation Advisory Board, she has learned that the Board has started to serve that type of 
function as an information clearinghouse and planning body.  



September 8, 2015 Study Session   . 
Page 5 

  

 
Chief Mylett said he was a member of the North Texas Crime Commission which served that 
role. He is in contact with the chair of that commission and would like to start a similar 
organization in this area. He has already spoken with some chiefs in the region who are 
interested in the concept. 
 
Mayor Balducci said she appreciates the Police Department’s focus on service. She has worked 
with a number of uniformed agencies in the area of labor negotiations in which the dominant 
interest is frequently about how their job impacts them versus how it impacts the community. 
She has always been proud of Bellevue’s Police and Fire Departments for their commitment to 
service. 
 
Chief Mylett concurred that “customer service” is not commonly in the verbiage of most police 
officers.  
 
Mayor Balducci thanked staff for the presentation. Chief Mylett noted that Police Department 
personnel is aware and appreciative of the Council’s support. 
 
 (b) Update on the City’s participation with Eastside Pathways 
 
City Manager Miyake opened discussion regarding the City’s participation with the Eastside 
Pathways program.  
 
Patrick Foran, Director of Parks and Community Services, noted that a number of Eastside 
Pathways Board members and staff were in the audience. He introduced Stephanie Cherrington 
of Eastside Pathways to provide an update on the program.   
 
Ms. Cherrington recalled that the Eastside Pathways effort started approximately five years ago, 
due in part to the recognition of low-income and disadvantaged students within Bellevue. 
Founders of the program noticed the large percentage of children on free or reduced price 
lunches as well as other issues more typical of poor and inner city communities. The goal of the 
program is to integrate community resources to create a system that supports all children. One 
success of the program has been progress in 3rd grade reading competency from 2012 to 2014. 
 
Eastside Pathways is comprised of more than 50 partners including local government agencies, 
schools and education organizations, YMCA, Girl Scouts of Western Washington, KidsQuest 
Museum, youth programs, and human services providers. The group is working to mobilize the 
community to support every child, step by step, from cradle to career. 
 
Ms. Cherrington said Eastside Pathways is based on a model of collective impact described in 
the Stanford Social Innovation Review by John Kania and Mark Kramer. Eastside Pathways is 
part of a national network of 63 communities called Strive Together.  
 
Ms. Cherrington described Eastside Pathways’ organizational structure and how it works on 
particular initiatives. One measure of the program’s effectiveness was its ability to improve 



September 8, 2015 Study Session   . 
Page 6 

  

school attendance and 3rd grade reading competency after a correlation between the two was 
identified. Every school that participated in the program experienced a decrease in tardiness. 
 
Mr. Foran said the City participates in Eastside Pathways by providing graphic services, printing, 
logistical support, in-kind services, and data design. In addition, approximately 13 City staff 
serve on work groups which address business engagement, community engagement, school 
readiness, summer/out-of-school time, and other topics. The City established an Eastside 
Pathways Sharepoint site to make all information available to City staff. This fall, the City will 
partner with Eastside Pathways to provide monthly collaborative sessions for City staff. Ms. 
Cherrington said Eastside Pathways is working to create a sustainable funding development plan.  
 
Councilmember Stokes expressed support for the program. He said the City has traditionally had 
a strong relationship with the Bellevue School District, including the Wrap-Around Program. He 
noted that different agencies and organizations have collaborated for years. However, the 
Eastside Pathways collective impact approach provides a focus on common objectives. He said 
this is an opportunity for Bellevue to continue to provide leadership in the region. He thanked the 
Eastside Pathways Board and staff for their work. 
 
Councilmember Robertson commended the program’s effectiveness. She asked whether Eastside 
Pathways is able to devote resources to families in which English is not the first language. Ms. 
Cherrington said Eastside Pathways is working to develop a model to create infrastructure that 
will make it easier for schools and community-based organizations to reach out to residents, 
including those who do not have English as a first language. One model is known as community 
cafes, which are designed to develop ongoing relationships with parents to understand their 
needs and issues.  
 
Ms. Robertson questioned how Eastside Pathways might be able to receive support from the Best 
Starts for Kids initiative coming up on the King County ballot in November. Ms. Cherrington 
said Eastside Pathways started meeting with groups in the spring. However, there is no 
information available on how money will be appropriated and what might be invested in the 
Eastside. Ms. Cherrington said EP staff continue to express support for the proposed Best Starts 
for Kids program and its goals. Councilmember Robertson said she wants to be sure that Eastside 
Pathways participates in the County’s efforts if the ballot measure is approved. 
 
Councilmember Robinson thanked staff for the presentation and expressed support for the 
tracking of performance measures. She noted the 4.4 percent increase in the 3rd grade reading 
pass rate and questioned whether this is statistically significant. Ms. Cherrington said the rates 
had been flat for many years and are finally moving up. Ms. Robinson said she would like to see 
more analysis of the data when Eastside Pathways comes back for the next update. 
 
Councilmember Lee thanked Eastside Pathways for their work. He questioned how the collective 
of 50 or more partners is able to agree on the appropriate areas of focus. Ms. Cherrington said the 
ability to collaborate with the Strive Together network provides access to information on 
national issues and efforts, and helps Eastside Pathways to determine what makes sense for this 
area. In the early years, the founders and director were the primary decision-makers. However, 



September 8, 2015 Study Session   . 
Page 7 

  

EP established a governance committee (Partner Leadership Committee) this year to facilitate 
joint decision-making. 
 
Mayor Balducci observed that Eastside Pathways works at the macro level to ensure that the 
community’s systems are as effective as possible in driving the outcomes most closely associated 
with individuals’ success over the long term. She believes the City needs to provide consistent 
support, regardless of the form of support (e.g., in-kind support, financial assistance, etc.), and 
commitment for the long term. She commended the Wrap Around Program at Lake Hills 
Elementary School, which is a smaller program addressing many of the same issues in a 
comprehensive way.  
 
Mayor Balducci thanked the Eastside Pathways Board and staff and indicated that the City wants 
to continue to know how it can best help in these efforts. 
 
 (c) Staff Report on Boys and Girls Clubs of Bellevue Funding Request 
 
Mr. Miyake said the purpose of tonight’s discussion is to present the Boys and Girls Clubs of 
Bellevue (BGCB) funding request and receive feedback from the Council.  
 
Mr. Foran described the proposal for a Boys and Girls Clubs of Bellevue Downtown Main Club 
in partnership with the City. The City will have access during BGCB non-programmed time 
periods to the gymnasium, technology lab, education center, and game room on the first floor 
and to the arts and crafts room, games room, Internet Café and tutoring rooms on the second 
floor. The center is located across from the Downtown Park. 
 
Mr. Foran highlighted the investment principles for the City’s funding contribution. The 
organization must have a sustainable long-term financial model, including private sector funding. 
Any agreement for funding must clearly define the public benefit to be received in exchange for 
the investment and should provide for the City’s involvement in financial oversight.  
 
Mr. Foran said the Boys and Girls Clubs of Bellevue were founded in 1952 and served more than 
14,000 youth and teens in 2014 with an annual operating budget of $4 million. There are 
programs at 12 sites throughout Bellevue including the Lake Hills Teen Center, Hidden Valley 
gymnasium, South Bellevue Community Center, and Crossroads Community Center. 
 
Mr. Foran said BGCB will be responsible for the ongoing maintenance and operation of the 
facility. The City provides $1.5 million toward the cost of the new facility, which will be paid in 
25-percent increments. The City will receive a minimum of 100 hours per week for daytime, 
evening, and weekend programs. Potential City programs include arts and crafts classes and 
workshops, fitness classes, educational programs and workshops, social activities, and 
community events. The joint use agreement will provide details on facility operations, program 
supervision, seasonal program schedules, hours of operation, staffing, and program delivery. The 
City Manager and BGCB Executive Director may modify the joint use agreement as needed. 
 
Councilmember Chelminiak expressed support for the partnership, which is consistent with the 
City’s longstanding goal to provide adult community center programs in the Downtown.  



September 8, 2015 Study Session   . 
Page 8 

  

 
Councilmember Robinson said she wants to ensure the building will accommodate technology 
programs for youth. Mr. Foran said BGCB representatives assure him that the facility will 
provide full technology capabilities. He noted that adults are interested in technology education 
and programs as well. 
 
Mayor Balducci concurred with Mr. Chelminiak that this provides a great opportunity for adult 
programming. She would like to see space for casual meetings and socializing, particularly for 
older adults. She noted other successful partnerships with the BGCB at a number of City 
facilities. She said the City’s $1.5 million investment is well worth the public benefit to be 
received in return.  
 
Councilmember Stokes noted that the Boys and Girls Clubs of Bellevue organization is a 
member of Eastside Pathways. 
 
At 8:03 p.m., Mayor Balducci declared recess to the Regular Session. 
 
  
 
 
  Kyle Stannert 
Acting City Clerk 
 
/kaw 


	CITY OF BELLEVUE
	CITY COUNCIL
	Summary Minutes of Study Session

